

ROSCOE CODE OF ORDINANCES – Proposed Revisions & Amendments

- CHAPTER 20. - VILLAGE GOVERNMENT

- ARTICLE I. - IN GENERAL

- Sec. 2-1. - Public records available.

The village shall make available to any person for inspection or copying all public records, as provided in the Freedom of Information Act, 5 ILCS 140/1 et seq. (Code 2007, § 10.17)

- Secs. 2-2—2-20. - Reserved.

- ARTICLE II. - PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES

- Sec. 2-21. - President.

The president shall hold his/**her** office for four years and until his/**her** successor is elected and has qualified. The president shall, before he/**she** enters upon the duties of his/**her** office, execute a bond in the sum of \$3,000.00 to be provided by the village. ***Although the Village has created the position of village administrator by ordinance and therewith delegated broad administrative and management responsibilities to the post of village administrator, this does not extinguish certain powers of appointment and other duties held and enjoyed by, and specifically reserved in state law to, the village president. The village president is the head of the Village Board, the presiding officer at all meetings of the Village Board, the liquor commissioner, the leader of the policy-making process, the primary spokesperson for the village, and the chief liaison to external entities and other governments in the execution of his/her leadership role.***

COMMENTARY & OPTIONS: The Illinois Municipal Code allows the use of the term “mayor” to be used instead of “village president,” but making this change requires that the Village Code be amended by adding language allowing the use of this term. No such amendment has ever been made to the Roscoe Village Code. Does the Board wish to enact the option to allow the use of “mayor” instead of “village president”?

- Sec. 2-22. - Board of trustees.

The board of trustees shall consist of six members, who shall be elected at large by the electors residing in the village. The term of office of a trustee shall be four years. No person shall be elected to the office of trustee who is not 18 years of age or more, nor who has not been a resident of the village for at least one year, nor who is not an elector of the village. (Prior Code, § 2-22; Code 2007, § 30.02)

- **Sec. 2-23. - Rules of order.**

Except as otherwise provided by state law, **or any other provision of this Village Code**, Robert's Rules of Order shall be followed in meetings of the board of trustees. (Prior Code, § 2-23; Code 2007, § 30.03)

COMMENTARY & OPTIONS: Very few governmental bodies completely follow all provisions of Robert's Rules of Order. In its entirety, Robert's Rules of Order-Revised is more than 700 pages long and includes provisions that may not be suited for the Roscoe Village Board. Robert's Rules of Order anticipates, however, that certain entities will want to delineate unique rules suited to their organization. If adopted by ordinance, these special rules would be superior to Robert's—meaning Robert's Rules of Order will apply where the Village's customized rules are silent. By way of illustration, an example of customized council/board meeting rules (called "Bob's Rules of Order") is attached. For Roscoe, special rules could include revisions to what does and what does not require a second reading (reducing the number of times the Board suspends the rules), different rules for tabling, adding unique citizen engagement provisions, greater clarity on how to handle items going to and from committees, and more. In fact, later in this document is an ordinance change recommending second readings only for ordinances.

- **Sec. 2-24. - Compensation of trustees.**

(a) Each trustee elected to the board of trustees shall receive, commencing on the first meeting that the trustee is sworn into office, an annual salary in the amount of \$4,000.00 per year. This salary shall be inclusive of, and be considered compensation for, all village board meetings and committee meetings of which the public is given notice, ~~excepting the collective bargaining committee, for which compensation shall be set, and payable separately, as set forth elsewhere in this Code~~, and for service as ex officio members, **and** the village liquor commission; for **these meetings**, each trustee, shall be compensated in the amount of \$60.00 for each meeting attended.

(b) Village trustees shall not receive any other benefits or compensation, including, but not limited to, health insurance, pension contributions and life insurance, for performance of their duties.

(Prior Code, § 2-25; Code 2007, § 30.04; Ord. No. 1985-6, 1-3-1985; Ord. No. 1992-7B, 4-1-1993; Ord. No. 1998-11, 10-1-1998; Ord. No. 2007-25, 7-19-2007; Ord. No. 2011-37, 8-18-2011; [Ord. No. 2019-05](#), § 2, 5-21-2019; [Ord. No. 2020-10](#), § 1, 7-21-2020; [Ord. No. 2021-31](#), § 1, 12-21-2021)

- **Sec. 2-25. - Compensation of the president.**

(a) The compensation of the village president shall be established at \$38,000.00 annually and shall be considered a part-time position.

(b) The village president shall not receive any other benefits or compensation, including, but not limited to, health insurance, pension contributions and life insurance, for performance of their duties.

(c) The village president's pay shall be made in equal installments payable bi-weekly less any applicable deductions.

(d) In addition to the foregoing, when attending meetings of the liquor commission as the village liquor commissioner, the president shall receive the same compensation for each meeting as trustees serving as members of the liquor commission.

(Prior Code, § 2-26; Code 2007, § 30.05; Ord. No. 1986-6, 12-18-1986; Ord. No. 1992-7B, 4-1-1993; Ord. No. 1998-11, 10-1-1998; Ord. No. 2006-41, 9-7-2006; Ord. No. 2007-17, 6-7-2007; Ord. No. 2011-35, 8-18-2011; Ord. No. 2014-42, 8-21-2014; [Ord. No. 2020-10](#), § 2, 7-21-2020; [Ord. No. 2021-31](#), § 2, 12-21-2021)

• **Sec. 2-26. - Procedure for passing ordinances and written resolutions.**

(a) Prior to presentation for adoption or passage, any ordinance ~~or written resolution to be~~ read before the village board for final approval shall be first introduced through one of the methods **described herein**. Except that by a vote of a majority of the corporate authorities then holding office, any ordinance may be at its first reading **adopted** without following the procedure set forth in this section.

(b) ~~Ordinances and written resolutions introduced at a regular, adjourned, or special meeting of the board of trustees.~~ Ordinances ~~or written resolutions~~ first introduced at meetings of the village board of trustees, and/or those ordinances ~~or written resolutions~~ without prior positive committee recommendation for approval, upon the vote of a majority of the trustees present to accept the ordinance or written resolution as to its first reading, the ordinance ~~or written resolution~~ will be held over until the next regular, special or adjourned meeting. At such subsequent meeting, or at any subsequent meeting, the ordinance may be **adopted** as to its final form and passage.

(c) Ordinances ~~and written resolutions~~ originating from the committee of the whole, **and** ~~Ordinances or written resolutions~~ first introduced at, or originating from, the committee of the whole may be submitted to village board of trustees for final adoption or passage at a regular, adjourned, or special meeting of the board of trustees without additional reading or layover by the village board, if the ordinance ~~or written resolution~~ is:

(1) Accompanied by a recommendation for approval from the committee of the whole, which has been made upon the vote of a majority of the trustees present at such meeting at which the recommendation is made; and

(2) Submitted to the village board for approval in such a form that is substantially similar to its final approved form.

(Code 2007, § 30.06; Ord. No. 2016-03, 3-1-2016)

COMMENTARY & OPTIONS: There is no legal requirement that resolutions and other simple motions of the governing body be held over for second readings. The principle behind requiring first and second readings for ordinances is that these instruments are more significant, and usually embody policy changes that may warrant additional review and/or further input from citizens. The fact that a second reading is not required for all actions other than ordinances does not prevent the Village Board, where they consider it appropriate, to table or holdover an item for additional review, study, comment, or just “to think about it.”

- Secs. 2-27—2-55. - Reserved.
- **ARTICLE III. - STANDING COMMITTEES**
- **Sec. 2-56. - Committee of the whole.**

(a) *Creation.* The village has established a committee of the whole, of the village board of trustees.

(b) *General purpose.* The committee of the whole shall be **used primarily for the following purposes: (i) to discuss broad policy initiatives for which further direction from the Board is required before an item can be readied and finalized for a vote by the Board at a future meeting, and (ii) responsible** for investigating and issuing recommendations on any issues pertinent to village business or governance, including, but not limited to, matters of capital improvements, finance, village personnel, public safety, public works and parks, economic development, and zoning, **where at least three Board members have communicated to the village president or the village administrator in writing of their desire to add an item to a committee of the whole agenda at least one week before the next scheduled committee of the whole meeting.**

(c) *Membership and voting.* The committee of the whole shall consist of all six members of the village board of trustees, who shall be full voting members. The village president shall be an ex officio member of the committee, and shall serve in an advisory, non-voting role. In the case of a tie-vote, any such motions, if presented to the village board, shall be presented with neither the positive nor negative recommendation of the committee.

(d) *Selection of chairperson.* The chair of the committee of the whole shall be selected as follows. The chair of the committee shall be **a village trustee** selected after nomination made by any member of the committee, and approval of a majority vote of all voting committee members. The chair's term shall run a maximum of two years. However, irrespective of the chair's tenure of service, a new chairperson shall be selected as soon as practicable after the seating of those trustees elected to office at each biennial municipal election taking place within the village. Should the chair resign, a replacement chair shall be selected in the same manner as the original selection. Should a chair be absent from any particular meeting, the members of the committee shall nominate and select a temporary chair to serve for that meeting.

~~(e) *Agenda items.* Upon the request of the village administrator, the village president, or any village trustee, the village clerk shall place upon the committee agenda any item for discussion that pertains to, or is relevant to, the business or governance of the village.~~

~~(f) *Reports to the board.* The committee of the whole shall submit for action, its findings and recommendations to the village board of trustees. Such findings shall specifically reflect a positive recommendation, a negative recommendation, or no recommendation.~~

COMMENTARY & OPTIONS: I believe paragraphs "e" and "f" above are not necessary or practical. The Village Clerk produces agendas, but the Village Clerk does not decide what is to be placed on the agenda. When the committee of the whole is utilized as a working group to give clarity and

direction to the staff, this direction often will not take the form of “a positive recommendation, a negative recommendation, or no recommendation.” Proposed revisions to the village administrator sections of the Code (below) make the administrator principally responsible for formulating and assembling Board agendas, in consultation with the village president and village trustees.

(g) *Meetings and schedule.* The committee of the whole shall convene immediately following each regularly scheduled meeting of the village board of trustees, or at such other times as shall be deemed necessary to carry out the functions and duties of the committee.

(Code 2007, § 30.15; Ord. No. 2015-17, 5-21-2015)

COMMENTARY & OPTIONS: A central tenet of local board governance is that it is a group activity—policy decisions are the result of ‘group process,’ and therefore “lone-wolf” members and vocal minority factions should not be able to take decision-making down paths unlikely to enjoy support when they come before the full Board of Trustees. However, trustees must still have recourse to deal with unresponsive village administrators and village presidents who fail to address, or do not recognize, the concerns of a significant number of trustees, and who may attempt to deny access to governing body members who want to discuss topics of major concern. Therefore, the revisions above provide a mechanism for going around the village president and village administrator, if and when necessary, in a manner consistent with the tenets of democratic group decision-making. At the same time, the process of insisting on an agenda item against the wishes of the village president and/or village administrator should not be implemented without sufficient notice for staff to prepare documentation and research on a topic, or be used as a mechanism for last-minute “gotcha” moves intended to embarrass village officials (appointed or elected). The recommended changes implement a balanced approach.

- **Sec. 2-57. - Collective bargaining.**

~~(a) The village has established a collective bargaining committee that shall consist of the village president, the village administrator, and two village trustees selected by the village president.~~

~~(b) One of the selected trustee members shall be designated as a primary member of the committee, and the other trustee member designated as an alternate member of the committee. The alternate trustee committee member shall participate in committee functions in the absence of the designated primary trustee.~~

~~(c) The terms of the committee membership shall be for duration of the bargaining of each collectively bargained contract.~~

~~(Code 2007, § 30.19; Ord. No. 2006-37, 7-20-2006; Ord. No. 2015-17, 5-21-2015; Ord. No. 2018-14, § 1, 9-18-2018)~~

COMMENTARY & OPTIONS: Proposed revisions to this Administrative Chapter delegate responsibility for conducting collective bargaining on behalf of the president and village trustees to the village administrator. Accordingly, the village administrator must obtain from the president and village trustees in advance parameters for negotiating contract revisions to be sought through collective bargaining, and must subsequently obtain the approval of the president and village trustees for enactment of any labor contract. In negotiations, the village administrator represents the collective interests of all seven (7) members of the governing body, and not just one or two of them. Having no members of the governing body routinely engaged in collective bargaining also gives the entire Board the ability to distance itself from initial results obtained by the village administrator, and greater freedom to instruct him/her to return to the bargaining table to obtain different results. Therefore, my preferred Option (#1) is for there to be no elected officials participating in collective bargaining. At all times the village administrator is accountable to the entire Board for collective bargaining decisions and processes. However, if the governing body would nonetheless like one elected representative to

participate, the ordinance could name the village president to perform this role (Option #2). Alternatively, the ordinance could allow the governing body's representative to be a trustee selected by majority vote of the Board (Option #3).

- Secs. 2-58—2-87. - Reserved.

- **CHAPTER 21. - VILLAGE DEPARTMENTS**

- **Sec. 2-88. - Created.**

(a) The village has created a *police department, a public works department, an administrative department and a* planning department, under the executive branch of the village government, *and* consisting of ~~a planning director, a plat officer and of~~ such other officials as shall be authorized by the village board of trustees.

(b) The village's zoning administrator shall serve ex officio as planning director and plat officer.

(c) The village's administrator shall serve as head of the Administrative Department, and as budget officer.

(Code 2007, § 37.01; Ord. No. 2007-67, 12-20-2007; Ord. No. 2015-49, 12-15-2015)

COMMENTARY & OPTIONS: Nowhere does the Village Code provide a complete listing of village departments. The amendments above correct this deficiency.

- **Sec. 2-89. - Appointment of employees.**

All ~~officers of the planning department~~ *village department heads* shall be appointed by the village president with the advice and consent of the village board of trustees.

~~(Code 2007, § 37.02; Ord. No. 2007-67, 12-20-2007; Ord. No. 2015-49, 12-15-2015)~~

- **Sec. 2-90. - Report of department.**

The ~~planning~~ departments shall provide a report to the president and the board of trustees quarterly and annually in relation to the department's work activities for each quarter and calendar year. (Code 2007, § 37.03; Ord. No. 2007-67, 12-20-2007)

- ~~• **Sec. 2-91. - Powers and duties.**~~

~~The powers and duties of the planning department shall be those enumerated in 65 ILCS 5/11-12-5 through 5/11-12-7 and such further duties as are assigned to it by the village president. (Code 2007, § 37.04; Ord. No. 2007-67, 12-20-2007)~~

- **Sec. 2-92. - Subdivisions to comply with official plans.**

Following the adoption of the official plan by the village board of trustees, which plan may be amended from time to time, no plat or subdivision or re-subdivision presented for recordation affecting land within the corporate limits of the village, as now or hereafter existing, or in contiguous unincorporated territory outside of and distant not more than 1½ miles from the corporate limits, shall be entitled to recordation or shall be valid unless the plat, subdivision or re-subdivision thereon shall provide for streets, alleys, ways for public service facilities, storm or floodwater runoff channels and basins and public grounds in conformity with the requirements applicable thereto of the official plan and compliance with all applicable sections of this Code, and the planning department shall be responsible for the monitoring of compliance of this section. (Code 2007, § 37.05; Ord. No. 2007-67, 12-20-2007)

- **Secs. 2-93—2-112. - Reserved.**

COMMENTARY & OPTIONS: In some other village documents there are references to a “community development department” that includes planning, zoning, code enforcement and economic development. The Village Code does not provide for a Community Development Department, although this title is the one most commonly used to aggregate planning, zoning, code enforcement, neighborhood improvement and economic development. As I understand it, the village president, with the advice and consent of the Board of Trustees, has historically appointed department heads, but not appointed other employees—except for those called out in statute as being appointed by the village president with the advice and consent of the Board of Trustees, such as the village attorney, village treasurer, village engineer and deputy village clerk. The Village Code does not contain a complete listing of all village departments, so it has been added here. The village is at liberty to create or abolish departments in the future; it would just require an ordinance amendment to implement such a decision.

- **CHAPTER 22. - VILLAGE OFFICIALS**

- **ARTICLE I. - IN GENERAL**

- **Sec. 2-113. - Board to prescribe duties, powers, term of appointed officers.**

The board of trustees, by ordinance not inconsistent with state law, may prescribe the duties, define the powers and fix the term of office of all appointed officers of the village **who are appointed by the village president with the advice and consent of the village trustees**, but the term of office shall not exceed that of the president. (Prior Code, § 2-1; Code 2007, § 31.01)

- **Sec. 2-114. - Village clerk.**

(a) *Office created; election and term; compensation.* The village clerk shall be elected for a four-year term. The clerk shall receive compensation as follows:

- (1) The compensation of the village clerk shall be established at \$16,000.00 annually and shall be considered a part-time position.
 - (2) The village clerk, or the clerk's duly appointed deputy clerk, shall receive as an additional compensation, \$40.00 for each village board meeting, liquor commission meeting and public hearing attended in furtherance of his official duties in the capacity of village clerk.
 - (3) The village clerk, or ~~a the clerk's~~ duly **appointed and** authorized **deputy village clerk** ~~designee, for all committee meetings,~~ where the clerk is required to attend, in his/**her** official capacity, and in furtherance of his/**her** official duties as village clerk, shall receive as an additional compensation, \$40.00 per meeting for committee meetings organized under the village's committee of the whole structure, or \$14.00 per hour for meetings of committees of the village board for which committee membership is made up of less than the whole of the village board of trustees, such amount which shall not exceed \$40.00 per day regardless of the number of individual meetings attended.
 - (4) The village clerk shall not receive any other benefits or compensation, including, but not limited to, health insurance, pension contributions and life insurance, for performance of their duties.
 - (5) The village clerk's pay shall be made in equal installments, payable biweekly, less any applicable deductions.
- (b) *Oath; bond.* The village clerk, before entering upon the duties of his/**her** office, shall take the oath of office prescribed by law, and shall execute a bond to the village in the penal sum of \$3,000.00, with security as shall be approved by the president and board of trustees, conditioned for the faithful performance of the duties of his office, and the payment of all moneys that may be received by him/**her**, according to law and ordinance. The bond shall be filed with the treasurer.
- (c) *Office location.* The village clerk shall keep his/**her** office in the municipal building or at such other place as the board of trustees may direct.
- (d) *Powers and duties.* The village clerk has those powers and duties provided for by state law. Such duties shall include as follows:
- (1) The clerk shall keep the corporate seal, as provided by the corporate authorities, and shall affix its impression of documents whenever this may be required.
 - (2) The clerk shall keep and maintain all papers belonging to the municipality, except those where the custody and control of which have been given to other officers of the village and shall keep and maintain copies of all papers duly filed in the clerk's office.
 - (3) The clerk shall attend all meetings of the corporate authorities, including executive sessions, and keep a full record of their proceedings in the journal, except if the clerk is the subject matter of the meeting and his presence creates a conflict of interest.

(e) *Deputy clerk.*

(1) *Authorization; appointment; term.* From time to time, as is determined necessary by the president and board of trustees for the village, there may be hired **and appointed by the president and board of trustees** a deputy village clerk **from among existing and qualified full-time village employees** to perform the functions of the village clerk in the clerk's absence. ~~The village clerk is authorized to appoint one deputy clerk.~~ Any such appointment of a deputy clerk may be revoked at any time, and a new appointment may thereafter be made if desired. Any such appointment, however, shall run concurrently with the village clerk's term of office unless sooner terminated.

(2) *Authority.* The powers and duties of a deputy clerk shall only be exercised:

a. In the absence of the clerk from the place where the clerk's office is maintained, and only when written direction has been given by the clerk to that deputy to exercise a power; or

b. When the president and board of trustees have determined by resolution that the clerk is temporarily or permanently incapacitated to perform a specific, enumerated function.

(3) *Designation; oath; bond.* An original of the instrument making an appointment of a deputy ~~by the village clerk~~ shall be filed and shall remain on file in the office of the village clerk. Any person accepting an appointment as deputy ~~of the~~ village clerk hereunder shall take and subscribe the same oath or affirmation as is required of village officers and such oath or affirmation shall be filed and remain on file in the office of the village clerk. The deputy clerk shall be bonded in the same manner as the village clerk.

(4) *Powers and duties.* When duly authorized, the deputy clerk shall have the power and duty to execute all documents, papers, receipts, orders, checks and other instruments required by any law to be executed by the village clerk, to affix the corporate seal thereto whenever required, and to make such records and perform any and all duties and functions performed by the village clerk. In signing any documents, the deputy clerk shall sign the name of the clerk with the word "by" and the deputy clerk's own name and the words "deputy clerk."

~~(5) *Pay; hours.* Upon authorization for appointment, and annually thereafter until such authorization for appointment has been withdrawn, the president and board of trustees shall establish or modify the pay scale and appropriation for the deputy clerk position as part of the passage of the village's appropriation ordinance. However, the deputy clerk shall not be authorized to work more than 15 hours during any given work week, or in such a manner as to exceed the amount appropriated for that position by the village board of trustees.~~

(Prior Code, §§ 2-2, 2-3; Code 2007, § 31.02; Ord. No. 1986-4, 11-6-1986; Ord. No. 2000-19, 11-2-2000; Ord. No. 2004-24, 11-4-2004; Ord. No. 2004-27, 11-18-2004; Ord. No. 2011-36, 8-18-2011; Ord. No. 2012-7, 1-20-2012; Ord. No. 2016-23, 11-1-2016)

- **Sec. 2-115. - Village treasurer.**

(a) *Office established.* The village has established the office of village treasurer.

(b) *Bond.* The treasurer, before entering upon the duties of his office, shall execute a bond in the amount of \$5,000.00 to be provided by the village.

(c) *Deposits; bank designated, liability of treasurer.* The treasurer shall keep all funds and money in his custody belonging to the village in such places of deposit as may be designated by ordinance, and, when requested by the treasurer, the corporate authorities shall designate a bank or banks in which may be kept the funds and money of the village, in the custody of the treasurer. When a bank has been designated as a depository, it shall continue as such until ten days have elapsed after a new depository is designated and has qualified by furnishing the statements of resources and liabilities as required by subsection (d) of this section. When a new depository is designated, the corporate authorities shall notify the sureties of the village treasurer of that fact, in writing, at least five days before the transfer of funds. The village treasurer shall be discharged from responsibility for all funds or money which he deposits in a designated bank while the funds and money are so deposited. If village funds or money is deposited in a designated bank, the amount of the deposits shall not exceed 75 percent of the bank's capital stock and surplus, and the treasurer shall be responsible for funds or money deposited in the bank in excess of this limitation.

(d) *Qualifications of bank.* No bank shall be qualified to receive village funds or money until it has furnished the corporate authorities with copies of the last two sworn statements of resources and liabilities which the bank is required to furnish to the state commissioner of banks and trust companies or to the state comptroller of currency. Each bank designated as a depository for the funds or money shall, while acting as the depository, furnish the corporate authorities with a copy of all statements of resources and liabilities which it is required to furnish to the commissioner or the comptroller.

(e) *Term.* The treasurer shall serve for a term of four years, commencing on May 1 of the year in which he is appointed. (Prior Code, § 2-4; Code 2007, § 31.03)

- **Sec. 2-116. - Village attorney.**

(a) *Appointment; term.* The president, with the advice and consent of the board, shall appoint a qualified, competent person to be the attorney for the village. The village attorney shall serve in office until his successor has been appointed and has qualified.

(b) *Duties.* The village attorney shall:

(1) Be the legal adviser of the president, the board of trustees and each department of the village in all matters wherein the business of the village is involved. He shall, at all times, carefully guard and protect the interests of the village;

(2) Attend all regular meetings of the board, **unless excused**, and all special meetings when requested by the board;

COMMENTARY & OPTIONS: It is not essential that the village attorney attend every village board meeting. This requirement drives up the village's legal costs. The village attorney should be asked to attend those meetings where his/her legal analysis, opinion, updates on particular legal topics, or discussion on an agenda item is needed and/or anticipated. If a legal question comes up at a village board meeting and the village attorney is not present, the question can be referred to the village attorney for discussion at a future meeting, or by other communication to the Board.

(3) Prepare such ordinances as the board may from time to time direct, present them to the board and be prepared to answer any legal questions that may arise in and about the passage of the same and any legal effect and interpretation of the ordinances. All contracts in which the village is a party and all ordinances or resolutions of the village concerning or authorizing the making of a contract shall be drawn by the village attorney, or the draft thereof examined and upon by him before the same is made or adopted. All bonds in which the village is a party or interested shall be referred to the village attorney for approval before being approved by the board;

(4) Prosecute and defend, for and on behalf of the village, all suits and proceedings in any court. He shall not be required to prosecute any suit or proceeding when, upon investigation of all the facts in the case, he becomes satisfied that there is no cause of action on the part of the village, unless he is required to do so by the president **and/or the Board of Trustees**. The village attorney may discontinue any suit or proceeding upon any terms as he shall deem just and equitable, provided that the president may require him to prosecute any suit that he shall deem necessary to the well-being of the village. When in his opinion the public interest requires it, he may appeal any proceeding from the judgment of the circuit court;

(5) Cause execution to issue on all judgments in favor of the village and see that all collections are made. He shall have referred to him all court fee bills and other bills of courts for his approval before the same are paid; and

(6) Perform all other duties incidental to his office which may be required of him by law.

(c) *Substitute*. In case of temporary absence or disability, the village attorney may, with the approval of the president, appoint or employ some competent person to act in his place. No person shall be appointed or act on behalf of the village as village attorney who is not duly licensed as an attorney under the laws of the state. (Prior Code, § 2-5; Code 2007, § 31.04)

- **Sec. 2-117. - Village engineer.**

The president, with the advice and consent of the board, shall appoint a qualified, competent person or firm to be the engineer for the village, who shall serve until his successor has been appointed and has qualified. The village engineer or a representative from his office shall render engineering services for the village or its officials on a consultant basis. (Prior Code, § 2-6; Code 2007, § 31.05)

- **Sec. 2-118. - Retirement.**

The village shall participate in the state municipal retirement fund. The standard for participation therein shall be a position normally requiring performance of duty for 1,000 hours per year. (Prior Code, § 2-8; Code 2007, § 31.06; Ord. No. 1982-4, 8-5-1982)

- **Sec. 2-119. - Commencement of terms for newly elected officers.**

The term of village officers shall begin with the second meeting in April following the proclamation of the results of the regular municipal election at which the officers were elected. (Code 2007, § 31.07; Ord. of 4-21-2005)

- **Sec. 2-120. - Administrative hearing officer.**

(a) *Creation of position; duties generally.* The position of administrative hearing officer is created to hear and adjudicate allegations of code violations brought by the village and to impose fines, costs and penalties for such violations as are proven.

(b) *Appointment.* The administrative hearing officer shall be appointed by the village president and the village president is authorized and empowered to appoint, with the advice and consent of the village board of trustees, an individual or firm to provide the services of administrative hearing officer as an independent contractor on a part-time basis with such individual or firm to serve as the pleasure of the village president. The position of administrative hearing officer shall not be a civil service position and the village president shall have the authority to remove, replace or reappoint such individual or firm from time to time as he, in his sole discretion, may choose with any new appointment subject to the advice and consent of the village board of trustees.

(c) *Qualifications.* Every hearing officer must be an attorney licensed to practice law in the state for at least three years. Prior to conducting any proceedings, the hearing officers shall successfully complete a formal training program that includes the following:

- (1) Instruction on the rules of procedure of the hearing that they will conduct;
- (2) Orientation to each subject area of the code violations that they will administer;
- (3) Observation of administrative hearings; and
- (4) Participation in hypothetical cases, including rules on evidence and issuing final orders.

(d) *Other duties.* The administrative hearing officer shall additionally act as a hearing officer under the Public Safety Employee Benefits Act, 820 ILCS 320/1 et seq. He shall hold a hearing and make a determination if an employee subject to the Act is entitled to the benefits provided by the Act. The decision may be appealed to the circuit court under the provisions of 735 ILCS 5/3-101 through 5/3-113.

(Code 2007, § 31.08; Ord. No. 2011-24, 7-7-2011; Ord. No. 2011-41, 10-6-2011)

- **Sec. 2-121. - Village administrator.**

- (1) Creation of position.**

There is hereby created the position of village administrator, who shall be the chief administrative officer of the village. Any references in the Village Code of Ordinances or any other ordinance or document to the title of director of village services and personnel shall mean village administrator.

- (2) Appointment and selection of village administrator.**

- (a) The village administrator shall be chosen solely on the basis of executive and administrative qualifications with special reference to actual experience in, and knowledge of, accepted practices with respect to the duties as set forth herein and in the position description as established from time to time by the village president and village board.**

- (b) The village president shall appoint the village administrator with the advice and consent of the village board. The appointment shall be dependent upon the applicant's acceptance of the terms of a "letter of agreement — conditions of employment" that will be negotiated between the applicant and the village president. Such letter shall be approved by majority vote of the village board. The "letter of agreement — conditions of employment" will further define and explain conditions of employment, but may not override, circumvent or subvert any parts of this article.**

- (c) At the time of appointment, the village administrator need not be a resident of the Village of Roscoe. During the tenure of the appointment, the village administrator may be required to reside within the corporate boundaries of Village of Roscoe, or outside those boundaries, solely in conformance with the terms of the "letter of agreement — conditions of employment."**

- (d) In the event of the short-term and temporary absence of the village administrator, the village administrator may appoint a member of the village staff as acting village administrator. In the event of the extended absence of the village administrator, or the death, disability, or abandonment of position by the village administrator, or in the event the position becomes permanently vacant for any other reason, the village president may act as village administrator or may appoint an interim village administrator who shall serve until the village administrator returns or until a new permanent village administrator appointment is made.**

- (3) Tenure of position.**

The village president may remove the village administrator at any time with the advice and consent of the village board.

- (4) Compensation.**

The village administrator shall receive such compensation as the village president and village board shall fix from time to time by ordinance, or in the “letter of agreement—conditions of employment” document approved by the Village Board.

(5) Powers and duties—Generally.

The village administrator shall be the chief administrative officer of the village and shall be responsible for supervising and coordinating the work of all departments of the village. To that end, the village administrator shall have the authority and shall be required to:

(a) Enforce all the laws and ordinances of the village.

(b) Attend all meetings of the corporate authorities unless excused by the village president. Provide the corporate authorities all information related to matters under consideration as well as matters that come to the attention of the village administrator that require policy consideration by the corporate authorities. In consultation with the village president and trustees, the village administrator shall be responsible for preparing the agenda for all regular, committee of the whole and special meetings of the village board and shall be entitled to notice of all regular or special meetings of the village board.

(c) Recommend to the village president and board of trustees, adoption of such measures deemed necessary or expedient for the health, safety or welfare of the community, or for the improvement of services to the community.

(d) At the request of the village president and village board, recommend officers of the village who are required to be appointed and recommend the removal or suspension of any such officer to the village president and village board when such removal or suspension will be consistent with the best interests of the village. All recommendations for appointment or removal shall be based upon merit and upon qualifications or disqualifications of such officer. Supervise all appointed officers of the village and all village employees, and all persons shall perform their duties subject to the village administrator's direction, except as otherwise provided or required by statute. At the request of the village president and village board, the village administrator will make reports concerning appointed officers and employees of the village.

(e) Appoint, discipline, and remove all appointed employees of the village provided that this authority shall not extend to the chief of police, or to sworn officers in the police department, or department heads, or other employees appointed by the village president with the advice and consent of the village board, but the village administrator may recommend to the village president and village board as to appointment, discipline or removal of such excluded appointed employees.

(f) Settle questions as to the respective powers or duties of any appointed officer of the village and to delegate to any such officer any duty which is to be performed when no specific officer has been directed to perform the duty. Unless otherwise directed by the village president and village board, the village administrator shall exercise the power, authority, and duties

of any department head during the time when the office of such department head is vacant, except in the police department.

(g) Direct, supervise, and coordinate the administration of all departments, offices, and agencies of the village ensuring that all municipal services and programs are efficiently and effectively managed, except as otherwise provided by law, including the direction and coordination of all village-wide and interdepartmental projects, programs, policies, and administrative matters which are applicable to all departments.

(h) Make recommendations to the village president and village board concerning compensation for each appointive office and position in the village not otherwise provided for by statute or ordinance of the village.

(i) Recommend to the village president and village board, the creating, consolidating and combining of offices, positions, departments or units of the village.

(j) Monitor the affairs of the village or any department or division thereof. Investigate or provide for the investigation of all complaints in relation to matters concerning the administration of the government of the village, and in regard to service maintained by the public utilities in the village, and see that all franchises, permits or privileges granted by the village are faithfully observed.

(k) Supervise the purchase of all services, materials, supplies and equipment for which the funds provided are included in the annual budget; let contracts for operation and maintenance of village services for amounts less than twenty thousand dollars (\$20,000.00) so long as they are authorized by the village budget; receive, open and review bids for purchases or service contracts in amount or delegate this responsibility to the appropriate department head; and advise the village board on the advantages and/or disadvantages of a contract or vendor proposal on which bids have been received. No purchase shall be made, contract let, or obligation incurred that first requires the village board approving a budget amendment authorizing supplemental funds. No purchase, acquisition, construction or any contract of any type shall be made in excess of twenty thousand dollars (\$20,000.00) except by approval of the village board or in the case of public emergency when affirmed by the village president and subsequently ratified by the village board. A public emergency shall mean an unexpected event which places human safety or property in immediate risk of harm. The village administrator shall issue such rules governing purchasing.

(l) The village administrator, in cooperation with the village treasurer, shall prepare for consideration of the village president and village board on or before January 1 each year, an annual operating and capital budget which shall include a five-year capital improvements program (CIP); prepare the annual budget adoption ordinance for consideration and enactment; and prepare for consideration and enactment the annual tax levy ordinance and appropriations ordinance. For the purpose of preparing the annual budget and ordinances, the village administrator is authorized to require all officers and department heads to submit statements of the condition and expenses of their respective offices or departments; a

description of proposed village improvements and the probable costs for these improvements, a description of all unperformed contracts; and a statement of all unexpended appropriations of the preceding year. The village administrator shall be responsible for the administration of the annual operational and capital budget.

(m) Submit to the village president and village board, a monthly report highlighting activities of each department.

(n) Represent the village in collective bargaining negotiations, determine from the Village Board appropriate parameters of labor contracts, and return tentatively agreed-upon contracts for the final approval or rejection by the Village Board.

(o) Supervise such other administrative agencies and departments and officers as may be hereafter created by the village board of trustees unless the administration and control of such departments and officers is expressly delegated elsewhere.

(p) Devote full time to the duties of village administrator and shall not engage in any other employment without the written consent of the village board.

(q) Perform such other lawful duties as may be required by resolution, ordinance or direction of the village president and village board.

(6) Conflict of interest.

The village administrator shall not be financially interested, directly or indirectly, in any contract, work or business of the village, or in the sale of any article to the village, or in the purchase of any property belonging to the village, or sold for taxes or assessments, or sold by virtue of legal processes initiated by or with the village.

(7) Performance evaluation.

An initial performance evaluation of the village administrator will be completed by the village president and village board within six (6) months following the first six months of initial appointment. Another performance evaluation will be completed by the village president and village board on the first anniversary of the village administrator's hiring, and thereafter an annual evaluation of the village administrator's performance will be conducted for the duration of the village administrator's appointment. At a minimum, the performance evaluation process will include a written evaluation of the village administrator's work performance during the previous year's rating period, a meeting and discussion with the village president and board of trustees, a review of the village administrator's goals and objectives for the next year's rating period, and a written summary of the evaluation results. This section shall not be interpreted to grant any substantive employment rights in the village administrator and shall not alter the employment status of the village administrator as set forth in the "letter of agreement — conditions of employment."

COMMENTARY & OPTIONS: The village administrator ordinance language above is intended to completely replace and supplant the existing village administrator ordinance language below. While the use of an executive recruitment firm like MGT is recommended when there is a vacancy in the office of village administrator, it is inappropriate to proscribe a specific selection process in law, and thereby eliminate the Board's discretion in the matter. Besides the fact that the existing village administrator ordinance is far from best practice, there are too many vague words in the existing language like: "oversee" and "assist" and "encourage" which fall short of clarifying that the administrator is the chief administrative and operations officer of the village's departments and their service delivery apparatus, and that these management functions are separate and distinct from the village's policy-makers, to whom the administrator is fully accountable, i.e., the village president and board of trustees.

~~(a) *Establishment.* The village has created by the president and board of trustees of the village the full-time position of the village administrator, who shall be an employee of the village, and who shall be charged with the implementation of the policies and directives of the president and board of trustees of the village.~~

~~(b) *Selection and appointment; term; removal.*~~

~~(1) Upon a vacancy occurring in the village administrator position, a selection committee consisting of the village president and all village trustees in office at the time of the vacancy ("selection committee") shall initiate the recruitment process of qualified candidates to fill the position.~~

~~(2) The selection committee shall then seek out proposals from, and contract with, a qualified executive recruiting firm with knowledge and experience in the area of municipal recruiting. The firm shall be charged with the recruitment of candidates and the preparation of an initial list of no more than five eligible persons qualified for the position to be presented to the selection committee.~~

~~(3) The human resources administrator shall then coordinate interviews with the listed candidates to be scheduled with, and at such times that are convenient to the candidate, the village president, the board of trustees, village department heads, and other any other such staff deemed necessary by the village board of trustees.~~

~~(4) The selection committee shall then, in consultation with the firm, and in light of and taking into full consideration any responses and comments from the trustees and staff, review and rank the candidates.~~

~~(5) The village president and one village trustee selected by a vote of the village board of trustees, and the village's human resources administrator, shall then proceed to negotiate the terms of employment with the top candidate (within those parameters set by the village board of trustees), and bring the name of the candidate and the terms of employment to the village board for approval.~~

~~(6) The village board shall then, by an affirmative vote of two-thirds of the village board of trustees then serving, select and appoint the candidate brought before it, or approve the candidate but with conditions to the terms of employment, select an alternate candidate from the list, or reject the full list of candidates, and request that the selection committee recruit and prepare a list of additional candidates.~~

~~(7) Once selected, the village administrator shall serve at the pleasure of the village board of trustees and may be removed with or without cause by an affirmative vote of two-thirds of the village board of trustees then serving.~~

~~(c) *Duties and responsibilities.* The primary duties and responsibilities of this position shall be set by the village president and board of trustees, and shall include, but not be limited to, the following:~~

~~(1) Carrying out the directives and policies of the village president and board of trustees that require administrative implementation, and promptly reporting to the village president and board of trustees any difficulties encountered with such implementation.~~

~~(2) Preparation and overseeing the implementation of the annual operating budget in accordance with all statutory requirements and the needs of the village.~~

~~(3) Administration of the day-to-day operation of the village.~~

~~(4) Increasing the efficiency of the village government according to the best practices in local government.~~

~~(5) Promoting the economic and business development of the village through public and private sector cooperation.~~

~~(6) Overseeing all aspects of personnel and benefits administration, including, but not limited to, discipline, pay and wage recommendations, health insurance claims, and when necessary, collective bargaining negotiations.~~

~~(7) Overseeing the engagement of outside consultants, reviewing bids and proposals, and making selection recommendations for final approval by the village president and board of trustees.~~

~~(8) Facilitating and encouraging open communication between village residents and village officials to address complaints, grievances, and other matters of public concern.~~

~~(9) Assisting in the preparation of agendas of meeting of the village board and committees.~~

~~(10) Assisting as necessary, the president and board of trustees in the carrying out of their statutory duties and responsibilities.~~

~~(11) Regularly reporting to the president and board of trustees on the status of projects and activities occurring under the purview of office of the village administrator.~~

~~(12) Overseeing the development and maintenance of an organized and informative village website.~~

~~(13) Assisting the village president and the village board of trustees in the recruitment of residents for service on appointed village boards and committees (e.g., zoning board of appeals, police and fire commission).~~

~~(14) Performing such other duties that may be assigned from time to time by the village president and board of trustees.~~

~~(d) *Qualifications/required knowledge and abilities.* Possession of, at a minimum, a bachelor's degree from an accredited college or university in the field of business administration, public administration, finance, or the equivalent in experience and education in a related field.~~

~~(e) *Review of performance; evaluation.* The village administrator shall be subject to an annual or semi-annual performance review by the village president and board of trustees, as set forth in the village's personnel handbook, as may be amended from time to time.~~

~~(f) *Compensation and benefits.*~~

~~(1) The president and village board shall, from time to time, review and adjust as necessary the compensation of the village administrator, which shall take into consideration knowledge, qualifications and experience of the person then holding the position.~~

~~(2) The village administrator shall be entitled to all benefits for which full-time employees of the village are eligible.~~

~~(Code 2007, § 31.09; Ord. No. 2013-43, 11-7-2013; Ord. No. 2023-18, § 2(Exh. A), 12-19-2023; Ord. No. 2025-25, § 2(Exh. A), 12-2-2025; Ord. No. 2026-04, § 2(Exh. A), 3-18-2026)~~

COMMENTARY & OPTIONS:

- **Sec. 2-122. - Village comptroller.**

(a) *Office established.* The village has established the office of the village comptroller.

(b) *Appointment; qualifications.*

~~(1) Unless some person is otherwise appointed and confirmed to serve in such capacity, the village treasurer shall serve ex officio as village comptroller.~~ **The village president shall appoint a qualified member of the current village administrative staff to serve as village comptroller, with the advice and consent of the Board of Trustees. The village comptroller will be supervised by the village administrator and assist the village treasurer in executing and performing his/her duties.**

~~(2) In such cases where the office of the village comptroller and village treasurer are to be filled by separate individuals, the village comptroller shall be appointed by the village president with the advice and consent of the village board of trustees.~~

(3) The comptroller shall have knowledge or experience in budgeting and financial control procedures and practices.

(c) *Compensation.* The comptroller shall receive such compensation for services as may be set from time to time by the village board of trustees. ~~Should the comptroller also serve concurrently in the office of village treasurer, the comptroller shall receive no additional compensation than that received for service as village treasurer.~~

(d) *Bond.* The village comptroller shall furnish a surety bond in the amount of \$2,500.00 to be approved by the village board, the bond to be conditioned on the faithful performance of his ~~his~~ **her** duties. The premium of the bond shall be paid by the village.

(e) *Duties.* The comptroller shall have the following duties:

(1) *Generally.* All duties as set forth in state law.

(2) *Supervision and financial controls.* In relation only to their duties as set forth herein, the village comptroller shall exercise a general supervision over ~~all the officers and employees of the village charged in any manner with~~ the receipt, collection or disbursement of village revenues and the collection and return of all such revenues into the treasury and shall supervise and control such other officers and employees as the corporate authorities shall, from time to time, authorize, **in coordination with the village treasurer. The village comptroller shall also assist the village administrator in the preparation of the annual budget and appropriations ordinance.**

~~(3) *Annual budget.*~~

~~a. The comptroller shall prepare the budget annually and submit it to the corporate authorities together with a message describing the important features and be responsible for its administration after adoption.~~

~~b. The village comptroller shall, before the time of making the annual appropriations, to be made by the board of trustees, submit to the president and board of trustees, a report of estimates, as nearly as may be, of monies necessary to defray the expenses of the village during the current fiscal year.~~

(4) *Financial activities.*

a. The comptroller, **in coordination with the village treasurer**, shall prepare and submit to the corporate authorities, as of the end of the fiscal year, a complete report on the finances and financial activities of the village for the preceding year.

b. The village comptroller shall, in the report, class the different objects and classes of expenditures, giving as nearly as may be, the amount required for each. For the purpose of making such report, the village comptroller is authorized to require from all officers a statement of the condition and expenses of their respective offices and departments, with any proposed improvements and all probable expense thereof, all contracts made and unfinished, and the amount of any and all unexpended appropriations of the preceding year.

(5) *Financial conditions and future needs.* The village comptroller shall keep the corporate authorities advised of the financial condition and future needs of the village and make recommendations as he may deem desirable.

(6) *Documents; books.* The village comptroller shall have the charge, custody and control of all municipal documents, books, and papers of any kind, related to the financial activities of the village, except those of which the custody and control have been given to another officer of the village.

(7) *Accounts.* The village comptroller shall keep strict, accurate and detailed accounts in books to be provided for that purpose, of all the monies of the village received and disbursed, having the same so classified and arranged under proper heading, that the proper debits and credits of each particular fund or account will clearly show from whom and for what account the same was received, or to whom and what account the same was paid. The comptroller's books shall also show the several funds or appropriations of the village, the unexpended balance of each, and the indebtedness of the village, whether bonded or otherwise, and the general financial condition of the village as far as it is ascertainable. The village comptroller shall countersign all vouchers and deliver the same when called, taking a receipt for the same.

(8) *Bonds.* The village comptroller shall keep in the village hall in books kept expressly for such purpose a correct list of all the outstanding bonds of the village, showing the number and amount of each, for and to whom the bonds are issued. When any village bonds are paid or canceled, the books shall show that fact. The comptroller's annual report shall describe particularly the bonds sold during the year and the terms of sale with each and every item of expense thereof.

(9) *Village funds; public money to be kept separate.* The village comptroller shall keep all monies belonging to the village that may be in the comptroller's possession, separate and distinct from the comptroller's own monies, and is prohibited from using either directly or indirectly, the village money or property in the comptroller's custody or keeping for the comptroller's own or that of any person's benefit or use whatsoever, and shall turn over to the village all interest which shall accrue on monies in the comptroller's hands.

(10) *Other duties.* In addition to the duties specifically enumerated in this section, the village comptroller shall perform any other duties which the board of trustees may prescribe by ordinance, resolution or otherwise.

(f) *Special assessments.*

(1) *Warrants.* The village comptroller shall prepare, collect and execute all special assessments and other warrants which by law, this Code or other ordinances of the village may be executed by a village comptroller.

(2) *Delinquent.* The village comptroller shall annually, within the time required by law, make a written report or list of all delinquent special assessments on all lands, town lots and real property in the village on which the comptroller has been unable to collect the special assessments, with the amount of each, so remaining unpaid, together with the comptroller's warrant, or description of the nature

of the warrant, by which the comptroller is authorized to collect the special assessment, to the county collector. (Code 2007, § 31.10; Ord. No. 2017-10, 6-6-2017)

COMMENTARY & OPTIONS: Presently, the Roscoe Village Treasurer serves simultaneously as the Village Comptroller. However, the village's human resources manager/office manager serves as an assistant to the treasurer. While the simultaneous appointment of the same person to serve as both treasurer and comptroller is not a violation of any laws, it is not compatible with accounting policies and practices requiring rigorous separation of duties in financial transactions and financial oversight. While both posts are technically appointed by the village president and board of trustees, one is accountable to, and supervised by, the Board of Trustees, and the other is accountable to, and supervised by, the village administrator. This, revised arrangement along with other changes to the village's financial policies will satisfy audit and accounting principles, and provide appropriate checks and balances.

- **Secs. 2-123—2-142. - Reserved.**
- **ARTICLE II. - GIFTS**
- **Sec. 2-143. - State officials and employees' ethics.**

(a) The regulations of 5 ILCS 430/5-15 and 430/10-10—430/10-40 of the State Officials and Employees Ethics Act, 5 ILCS 430/1-1 et seq. (herein "SOEEA"), are adopted by reference and made applicable to the officers and employees of the village to the extent required by 5 ILCS 430/70-5.

(b) The solicitation or acceptance of gifts prohibited to be solicited or accepted under SOEEA, by any officer or any employee of the village, is prohibited.

(c) The offering or making of gifts prohibited to be offered or made to an officer or employee of the village under the SOEEA is prohibited.

(d) The participation in political activities prohibited under the SOEEA by any officer or employee of the village is prohibited.

(e) For purposes of this section, the terms officer and employee be defined as set forth in 5 ILCS 430/70-5.

(f) The penalties for violations of this section shall be the same as those penalties set forth in 5 ILCS 430/50-5 for similar violations of the SOEEA.

(g) This section does not repeal or otherwise amend or modify any existing ordinances or policies that regulate the conduct of village officers and employees. To the extent that any such existing ordinances or policies are less restrictive than this section, however, the provisions of this section shall prevail in accordance with the provisions of 5 ILCS 430/70-5.

(h) Any amendment to the SOEEA that becomes effective after the effective date of the ordinance from which this section is derived shall be incorporated into this section by reference and shall be applicable to the solicitation, acceptance, offering, and making of gifts and to prohibited political activities. However, any amendment that makes its provisions optional for adoption by municipalities shall not be incorporated into this section by reference without formal action by the corporate authorities of the village.

(i) If the state supreme court declares the SOEEA unconstitutional in its entirety, then this section shall be repealed as of the date that the court's decision becomes final and not subject to any further appeals or rehearings. This section shall be deemed repealed without further action by the village if the SOEEA is found unconstitutional by the state supreme court.

(j) If the state supreme court declares part of the SOEEA unconstitutional but upholds the constitutionality of the remainder of the Act, or does not address the remainder of the SOEEA, then the remainder of the SOEEA as adopted by this section shall remain in full force and effect; however, that part of this section relating to the part of the SOEEA found unconstitutional shall be deemed repealed without further action by the village. (Code 2007, § 31.20; Ord. No. 2004-5a, 5-6-2004)

- **Secs. 2-144—2-169. - Reserved.**

- **CHAPTER 23. - BOARDS, COMMISSIONS, AND SIMILAR BODIES**

- **ARTICLE I. - IN GENERAL**

- **Secs. 2-170—2-191. - Reserved.**

- **ARTICLE II. - BOARD OF FIRE AND POLICE COMMISSIONERS**

- **Sec. 2-192. - Creation.**

The village has created a board of fire and police commissioners, consisting of three members whose terms of office shall be three years and until their respective successors are appointed and have qualified. (Prior Code, § 2-80; Code 2007, § 32.20; Ord. No. 1990-9, 4-18-1991)

- **Sec. 2-193. - Qualifications.**

The members of this board shall possess the qualifications required of other offices of the village, shall take oath or affirmation of office, and give bond in the same manner as other appointive officers of the village. They shall be subject to the removal from office as the other officers. (Prior Code, § 2-81; Code 2007, § 32.21; Ord. No. 1990-9, 4-18-1991)

- **Sec. 2-194. - Appointment of board.**

The board of fire and police commissioners shall appoint all full-time officers of the police department of the village. All appointments made by the fire and police commissioners shall be from the rank next below that to which the appointment shall be made, other than that of the lowest rank. (Prior Code, § 2-82; Code 2007, § 32.22; Ord. No. 1990-9, 4-18-1991; Ord. No. 1991-11, 12-5-1991)

- **Sec. 2-195. - Rules.**

The board of commissioners shall make such rules and make appointments and removals except those herein reserved to the president and board of trustees and shall have any other and further powers as is provided by state law. (Prior Code, § 2-83; Code 2007, § 32.23; Ord. No. 1990-9, 4-18-1991)

- **Sec. 2-196. - Secretary.**

The board may employ a secretary or may designate one of its own members to act as such. The secretary shall keep the minutes of the board's proceedings, shall be custodian of all papers pertaining to the business of the board, shall keep a record of all examinations held, and shall perform any other duties as the board shall prescribe. (Prior Code, § 2-84; Code 2007, § 32.24; Ord. No. 1990-9, 4-18-1991)

- **Sec. 2-197. - Compensation.**

The board of commissioners shall each be compensated \$60.00 per meeting attended, except that the chairperson of the board of commissioners shall be compensated \$80.00 per meeting attended. (Code 2007, § 32.25; Ord. No. 2012-49, 6-21-2012; [Ord. No. 2021-29](#), § 1, 12-21-2021)

- **Secs. 2-198—2-217. - Reserved.**

END OF PART ONE RECOMMENDED REVISIONS TO THE ADMINISTRATIVE TITLE OF THE ROSCOE VILLAGE CODE